FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
6/3/2019 2:20 PM

97293-1

COA No. 79254-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

F. ROBERT STRAHM Appellant,

v.

SNOHOMISH COUNTY Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

F. Robert Strahm Appellant 1712 Pacific Ave. Suite 105 Everett, WA 98201 (425) 359-1227 bob@psresvc.com

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

F. Robert Strahm asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals Division One decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

An unpublished decision was filed on May 6th, 2019. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through 13.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- Are electronic versions of records, such as existing digital data compilations from which information may be obtained or translated, public records subject to disclosure and production under the Public Records Act ("PRA")?
- 2. Does an agency violate the PRA when it does not take reasonable steps to provide electronic records in the most efficient manner available to the agency in its normal operations?
- 3. Does an agency violate the PRA requirement to provide the "fullest assistance" when it does not

disclose the native format of electronic public records or the ability of agency software to translate native format electronic records into different formats?

4. Is the PRA violated when an agency withholds native versions of electronic records without identifying a statutory exemption?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Request K008293

On April 26, 2016 Appellant submitted public record requests for: "[e]lectronic records of the council approved budget, including without limitation, actual expenditures, for the years 2013, 2014, 2015" and "[e]lectronic records of the county property inventory pursuant to SCC 4.46.120 and RCW 36.32.210, for the years 2013, 2014, 2015." Appellant requested the records in DBF format on CD for pick-up. (CP 216, 218).

On May 2nd, 2016, Appellant received an e-mail from the County stating that electronic records would be available in native format: "Please be advised the adopted budgets as well as the monthly and quarterly budget versus actuals are on the Snohomish County web site - Electronic

records responsive to this request will be submitted in native format unless the records contain redacted material." (CP 221). The County stated that the records would be provided: "We reasonably believe that an installment of public records responsive to this request will be available on or before June 3, 2016." (CP 218).

On May 3rd, 2016, Appellant e-mailed the County in response to their offer to provide the K008293 records in native format, stating: "If the "native" format of the county's document allows the electronic records to be "save as" to DBF format without changing the substantive accuracy of the document, this would be "reasonably translatable" and the county is required to provide the records in DBF or a near universal format. WAC 44-14-05002 RCW 42.56.070(1) and 42.56.080." (CP 221).

Respondent denied the K008293 request for electronic budget records on June 3rd, 2016 and directed Appellant to acquire PDF format budget records that were not requested. The on-line documents referred to by Respondent are not database file format (.dbf) electronic budget records or native electronic records. (CP 224).

Respondent denied the K008293 request for electronic inventory records on June 3rd, 2016 and directed Appellant to acquire paper records that were not requested. (CP 224).

The County closed request K008293 on June 3rd, 2016, and did not produce any electronic records in response to the requests, did not provide any privilege log, did not make any claim of exemption and did not provide an internet address and link on the County's web site to the specific records requested. (CP 224). Appellant filed a complaint against the County for violations of the PRA in King County Superior Court on May 15, 2017. (CP 1-16).

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with decisions of the Supreme Court.

1. Electronic Records Are Public Records.

The Court of Appeals erred in determining: "[n]othing in the PRA obligates an agency to disclose records electronically." This is in conflict with Doug O'Neill et al. and Respondents, v. The City of Shoreline et al., Petitioners, 170 Wn.2d 138, where this Court found that electronic versions of public records are public records subject to disclosure. The Division One ruling is also in conflict with Fisher Broad.-Seattle TV LLC v. City of Seattle, 180 Wn.2d 515 (2014), where this Court found that a "public record" is broadly defined and includes "existing data

compilations from which information may be obtained" "regardless of physical form or characteristics." RCW 42.56.010(4), (3). "This broad definition includes electronic information in a database." RCW 42.56.120 (2) (b) (iv) requires an agency to take reasonable steps to produce electronic records: [an] "agency may not charge in excess of:" (iv) "Ten cents per gigabyte for the transmission of public records in an electronic format or for the use of agency equipment to send the records electronically. The agency shall take reasonable steps to provide the records in the most efficient manner available to the agency in its normal operations".

Division One erred when citing a case involving the scanning of a paper record into an electronic record, creating a new record. "In this situation, scanning a redacted paper copy of a record into electronic format on an agency's server *creates* a new public record." Benton County v. Zink, 191 Wn. App. 269, 281, 361 P.3d 801 (2015). Division One erred in applying a scanning of a paper record into an electronic format creating a new public record standard. Request K008293 did not involve scanning of any paper record into an electronic record, creating a new record. The request involves existing "native" application software program electronic records and the ability of an agency to translate existing native electronic

records into a different format. The request was for electronic records in DBF (database file) format. (CP 216).

The PRA requires an agency to provide a "copy" of all nonexempt records. RCW 42.56.070(1) and 42.56.080. An electronic version of a record is a public record subject to disclosure. Yet, Division One ignores the holding in Doug O'Neill et al., Respondents, v. The City of Shoreline et al., Petitioners, 170 Wn.2d 138, 147-48 (2010). This Court held that an electronic version of a record is a public record: "We agree with the Supreme Court of Arizona that an electronic version of a record, including its embedded metadata, is a public record subject to disclosure." Division One ignores this Courts holding in Fisher Broad.-Seattle TV LLC v. City of Seattle, 180 Wn.2d 515 (2014). A "public record" is broadly defined and includes "existing data compilations from which information may be obtained" "regardless of physical form or characteristics." RCW 42.56.010(4), (3). "This broad definition includes electronic information in a database. *Id.*; see also WAC 44-14-04001. Merely because information is in a database designed for a different purpose does not exempt it from disclosure. Nor does it necessarily make the production of information a 'creation' of a record." Fisher Broad.-Seattle TV LLC v. City of Seattle, 180 Wn.2d 515 (2014). Division One's ruling undermines the PRA by potentially allowing agencies to summarily deny requests for electronic

records. Division One erred in determining: "[n]othing in the PRA obligates an agency to disclose records electronically."

The Court of Appeals erred in determining "That the County did not provide the records in native or DBF format did not constitute a violation of the PRA." The act obligates an agency to provide all nonexempt "identifiable records". RCW 42.56.070, RCW 42.56.080, and the County did not claim the requested records were exempt. (CP 224). "identifiable record" is essentially one that agency staff can "reasonably locate." WAC 44-14-04002(2). The County identified the requested budget records: "the adopted budgets as well as the monthly and quarterly budget versus actuals are on the Snohomish County web site" (CP 221). The County identified the County auditor file numbers of the recorded inventory reports. (CP 224). The online version of the County budgets include a static Portable Document File (pdf) copy of the electronic compilation of data, a "Computerized compilation of budget detail", otherwise known as a database. (CP 61, 62, 63, 64). The online pdf version of County inventories include a statement that the inventories are maintained in a database. (CP 214). The County admits the inventory records are maintained in a database: "Snohomish County does maintain a database of capital assets, both personal and real property." (CP 86). Both the electronic budget records and the electronic inventory records are reasonably locatable and therefore, identifiable public records. The act obligates an agency to provide **all** nonexempt "identifiable records". The County stated in their initial response that native format electronic records would be produced, yet, produced no electronic records: "Electronic records responsive to this request will be submitted in native format unless the records contain redacted material." (CP 221). A native format electronic record is an application software original file that can be exported or reproduced without translation. The County violated the PRA by withholding nonexempt (CP 224) native format versions of electronic records and the Division One decision is in conflict with Doug O'Neill et al., Respondents, v. The City of Shoreline et al., Petitioners, 170 Wn.2d 138 (2010), and Fisher Broad.-Seattle TV LLC v. City of Seattle, 180 Wn.2d 515 (2014).

B. The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a published decision of the Court of Appeals.

1. Fullest Assistance In Producing Native Format

Electronic Records Or Translating To A Requested

Format.

¹ See The Sedona Conference Glossary: E-Discovery & Digital Information Management (Fourth Edition), 15 SEDONA CONF. J. 305, 341 (2014) Native Format: Electronic documents have an associated file structure defined by the original creating application. This file structure is referred

to as the native format of the document.

The Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with a Division One decision and Division One erred when determining that: "The PRA does not require the County to translate a record into an alternative electronic format. See WAC 44-14-05001." WAC 44-14-05001 provides that agencies should provide electronic records in an alternative format: "In general, an agency should provide electronic records in an electronic format if requested in that format, if it is reasonable and feasible to do so." RCW 42.56.120(1) provides that agency translation of electronic records into a different format does not create a new record: "If any agency translates a record into an alternative electronic format at the request of a requestor, the copy created does not constitute a new public record for purposes of this chapter." The state legislature set maximum copy fees for public records, including electronic public records, and required agencies to take reasonable steps to provide electronic records. RCW 42.56.120 (2) (b) (iv). An "agency may not charge in excess of:" (iv) "Ten cents per gigabyte for the transmission of public records in an electronic format or for the use of agency equipment to send the records electronically. The agency shall take reasonable steps to provide the records in the most efficient manner available to the agency in its normal operations". The County capital asset/inventory software system, Checkmate, has the ability

to translate its' native electronic records to different generally commercially available formats. (CP 31, 38).

Electronically Stored Information ("ESI") must be produced in the form in which it is ordinarily maintained or in a form that is reasonably usable to the requesting party. The Sedona Principles, Third Edition: Best Practices, Recommendations & Principles for Addressing Electronic Document Production, 19 SEDONA CONF. J. 1, 172 (2018). The United States Court of Appeals, Ninth Circuit, held, regarding reproduction of electronic records in response to a Freedom Of Information Act ("FOIA") request, that the relevant inquiry is whether the format is readily reproducible using a normal business as usual approach. TPS, INC., UNITED Plaintiff-Appellant, STATES DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE; Defense Logistics Agency, Defendants-Appellees, 330 F.3d 1191 (2003):

FOIA does not restrict the "business as usual" inquiry to whether a government agency regularly reproduces documents in a specified format solely for FOIA requests. Instead, the relevant inquiry is whether, in general, the format is one that is "readily reproducible" by the agency. In evaluating reproducibility, the agency should employ a

standard of reasonableness that is benchmarked against the agency's "normal business as usual approach" with respect to reproducing data in the ordinary course of the agency's business.

The Division One decision is in conflict with the Division One decision Meredith Mechling, Appellant, v. The City of Monroe, Respondent, 152 Wn. App. 830, 222 P.3d 808 (2009). The PRA requires agencies to provide the "fullest assistance" and the "most timely possible action on requests for information." RCW 42.56.100. Division One ruled in a PRA case involving electronic records: "consistent with the statutory duty to provide the fullest assistance and with the model rules, on remand the trial court shall determine whether it is reasonable and feasible for the City to" [provide the requested e-mail records in an electronic format]. Meredith Mechling, Appellant, v. The City of Monroe, Respondent, 152 Wn. App. 830, 222 P.3d 808 (2009).

Division One ignores the model PRA rules promulgated by the State Attorney General providing that when "...an agency has a database in a unique format... A requestor requests an electronic copy. The agency can convert the data in its unique system into a near-universal format such as a comma-delimited or tab-delimited format. The requestor can then convert

the comma-delimited or tab-delimited data into a database program (such as Access®) and use it. The data in this example is "reasonably translatable" into a comma-delimited or tab-delimited format so the agency should do so." WAC 44-14-05002 (2) (iii).

Division One erred in determining the County did not violate the PRA requirement to provide the fullest assistance. Division One ignores that Appellant requested the electronic budget and inventory records in dbf (database file) format. Division One ignores that the requested records are "database" records (CP 61, 62, 63, 64), (CP 214), (CP 86) and the fact that the County was apprised of the difference between PDF format and DBF format electronic files: "it was noted you need electronic records in "DBF" format. Do you mean "PDF" format?" Appellant responded: "DataBase File format." (CP 69). Division One ignores that the County capital asset/inventory software system, Checkmate, has the capability to translate its' native electronic records to different generally commercially available formats. (CP 31, 38). Division One ignores that the County stated responsive records would be produced: "We reasonably believe that an installment of public records responsive to this request will be available on or before June 3, 2016." (CP 218). Division One ignores that the County stated native format records will be produced: "Electronic records responsive to this request will be submitted in native format unless the records contain redacted material." (CP 221).

Division One selectively quotes Appellant and erred in determining that the County did not violate the PRA requirement to provide the fullest assistance because, the County "did not provide electronic budget and inventory database records." Appellant's request was for "[e]lectronic records of the council approved budget and [e]lectronic records of the county property inventory pursuant to SCC 4.46.120 and RCW 36.32.210". Appellant requested the electronic budget and inventory records in dbf (database file) format. (CP 216). The subject County budgets include a "Computerized compilation of budget detail", otherwise known as a database. (CP 61, 62, 63, 64). The subject County inventories are maintained in a database. (CP 214). The County admits the inventory records are maintained in a database: "Snohomish County does maintain a database of capital assets, both personal and real property." (CP 86).

Division One erred in determining Appellants request was not clear: "His request, however, merely sought [e]lectronic records of the council approved budget" and "[e]lectronic records of the county property inventory.", citing Levy v. Snohomish County,167 Wn. App. 94,98, 272 P.3d 874 (2012) ("At a minimum, a person seeking documents under the

PRA must identify or describe the documents with sufficient clarity to allow the agency to locate them. The PRA does not require public agencies to be mind readers."). The Levy case is distinguishable because, Levy had requested a document that his attorney showed him without identifying the document: "Levy originally requested a document that his attorney apparently showed him during a 2002 criminal trial. As the County correctly notes, the request created an immediate uncertainty because the County had no objective method for determining what counsel had shown Levy." Id. The County requested clarification from Levy in it's initial response and Mr. Levy's position was that the request for clarification was an unreasonable delay: "Levy contends that the County's request for clarification unreasonably delayed its compliance with the PRA, in violation of the five-day time limit in RCW 42.56.520. He maintains that his original request was "objectively clear" and that clarification was therefore unnecessary." Id. Here, unlike in Levy, the County did not request clarification and correctly identified the requested records in it's initial response. (CP 218, 224). Unlike Levy, the County responded that records were going to be produced: "We reasonably believe that an installment of public records responsive to this request will be available on or before June 3, 2016." (CP 218), and "[e]lectronic records responsive to this request will be submitted in native format unless

the records contain redacted material." (CP 221). The County made no claim of exemption (CP 224). The PRA requires an agency to provide a "copy" of **all** nonexempt records. RCW 42.56.070(1) and 42.56.080. The County silently withheld the electronic records, violating it's duty to provide the fullest assistance.

C. This petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Advancing computer technology has changed transmission and storage of information from an analog paper medium to a digital electronic medium, transforming information into a digital commodity readily accessible to the public. The digital revolution has transformed the storage of records from a paper form to a digital electronic form.

The state legislature recognized the importance of the digital revolution as early as 1996 and adopted policies that encourage access to electronic public records: "Broad public access to state and local government records and information has potential for expanding citizen access to that information and for improving government services. Electronic methods for locating and transferring information can improve linkages between and among citizens, organizations, businesses, and governments. Information must be managed with great care to meet the

objectives of citizens and their governments." RCW 43.105.351. The statute also provides that making public records available electronically is a priority:

It is the intent of the legislature to encourage state and local governments to develop, store, and manage their public records and information in electronic formats to meet their missions and objectives. Further, it is the intent of the legislature for state and local governments to set priorities for making public records widely available electronically to the public.

An agency that withholds nonexempt financial administration electronic records deprives the public of the ability to digitally review and efficiently scrutinize important government records, such as a county budget and inventory. The development, storage, and management of records is quickly converting to a digital medium where paper records are becoming obsolete. Thus, this is a case involving a fundamental and urgent issue of broad public import warranting review by the Supreme Court.

The PRA requires an agency to provide a "copy" of all nonexempt records. RCW 42.56.070(1) and 42.56.080. An electronic version of a

record is a public record subject to disclosure. Doug O'Neill et al., Respondents, v. The City of Shoreline et al., Petitioners, 170 Wn.2d 138, 147-48. ("We agree with the Supreme Court of Arizona that an electronic version of a record, including its embedded metadata, is a public record subject to disclosure.") This case will determine for the first time what steps an agency must take to translate an agencies' original electronic record into a useable copy for a requestor. WAC 44-14-05002 (2). This case will also determine for the first time whether an agency may withhold "native" format data compilations without identifying a statutory exemption. A "public record" is broadly defined and includes "existing data compilations from which information may be obtained" "regardless of physical form or characteristics." RCW 42.56.010(4), (3). "This broad definition includes electronic information a database. *Id.*; see also WAC 44-14-04001. Merely because information is in a database designed for a different purpose does not exempt it from disclosure. Nor does it necessarily make the production of information a 'creation' of a record." Fisher Broad.-Seattle TV LLC v. City of Seattle, 180 Wn.2d 515 (2014).

RCW 42.56.120 follows the Ninth Circuit decision regarding reproduction of electronic records (1): "If any agency translates a record into an alternative electronic format at the request of a requestor, the copy

created does not constitute a new public record for purposes of this chapter." RCW 42.56.120 (2) (b) (iv) sets maximum fees for production of "public records in an electronic format" and requires that the "agency shall take reasonable steps to provide the records in the most efficient manner available to the agency in its normal operations". The U.S. Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals determined that a FOIA electronic record format reproduction inquiry is whether, in general, the format is one that is "readily reproducible" by the agency. In evaluating reproducibility, the agency should employ a standard of reasonableness that is benchmarked against the agency's "normal business as usual approach", TPS, INC., Plaintiff-Appellant, UNITED **STATES** DEPARTMENT v. DEFENSE; Defense Logistics Agency, Defendants-Appellees, 330 F.3d 1191 (2003). The County can reproduce electronic inventory records in different formats. (CP 31, 38). The County made no effort to "provide the records in the most efficient manner available to the agency in its normal operations".

The digital revolution is rapidly transforming the distribution and storage of information into an electronic, digital medium. Whether the PRA is violated when an agency withholds original "native" versions of electronic records without identifying a statutory exemption or without offering to make the records available in an alternative electronic format is

an issue of first impression, which has broad and urgent public importance.

F. CONCLUSION

This court should accept review for the reasons indicated in Part E, reverse the appellate court decision, award costs and penalties to Appellant as the prevailing party and remand the case to the trial court for further proceedings.