FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/1/2019 1:29 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 97293-1

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

F. ROBERT STRAHM, Petitioner,

v.

SNOHOMISH COUNTY, Respondent.

## ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ADAM CORNELL Prosecuting Attorney

By: Alex J. Witenberg
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office
3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S 504
Everett, WA 98201
(425) 388-3333

Attorney for Respondent Snohomish County

#

## I. INTRODUCTION

Snohomish County made public records available to F. Robert Strahm in accordance with the Public Records Act by providing him a link to records on the County's website and by directing him to the County Auditor to obtain recorded documents. The Court of Appeals' unpublished decision in this case correctly determined that the County's actions complied with the PRA. The Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with Washington law. Therefore, review by this Court is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b), and Mr. Strahm's Petition should be denied.

### II. RESTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

For the reasons outlined below, this matter does not warrant the Court's discretionary review. However, if the Court were to grant review, the issues presented would be:

- Does an agency comply with the PRA when it provides a link to commonly requested records in a generally commercially available format?
- 2. Does an agency comply with the PRA when it refers a requestor to the County Auditor to obtain recorded documents?

## III. RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 26, 2016, Mr. Strahm submitted a public records request. The County assigned it a tracking number, K008293. CP 297, 301. This request sought the following:

- I. Electronic records of the council approved budget, including without limitation, actual expenditures, for the years 2013, 2014, 2015.
- II. Electronic records of the county property inventory pursuant to SCC 4.46.120 and RCW 36.32.210, for the years 2013, 2014, 2015.

Please provide the records in DBF format on CD for pick-up.

Id.

The County responded to Mr. Strahm's request on May 2, 2016, four business days after receiving his request. CP 297, 303. The County's response included a referral to the Snohomish County website where records responsive to item 1 of his request could be located. CP 297-98, 303. This letter also informed Mr. Strahm that he would receive further communication from the County regarding his request on or before June 3, 2016. *Id.* This correspondence also informed Mr. Strahm that if records

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mr. Strahm originally challenged the County's response to two other public records requests. He does not seek this Court's review of the County's response or the Court of Appeals' decision regarding those requests.

existed electronically, they would be provided to him in "native format" if they did not require redaction. *Id*.

On May 3, 2016, Mr. Strahm responded to this letter asking that if records were to be produced in "native format" that they be translated into "DBF format." CP 298, 306.

After searching in locations reasonably likely to contain responsive records, the County determined that all records responsive to item 1 of Mr. Strahm's request were located on the County's website. CP 298.

The Snohomish County Council formally adopts the County's annual budget. *See* <a href="https://snohomishcountywa.gov/367/Budget-Division">https://snohomishcountywa.gov/367/Budget-Division</a>, CP 313. Council-approved budgets are posted on the County's website, once adopted, and are maintained in .pdf format. *Id.* Although Mr. Strahm requested these budgets be produced in ".dbf" format, that is not the format in which the County maintains the adopted budgets in the ordinary course of business. *Id.* 

After searching in locations reasonably likely to contain responsive records, the County determined that all records responsive to item 2 of Mr. Strahm's request were maintained by the County as recorded documents in the County Auditor's Office, pursuant to the requirements of RCW 36.32.210. CP 298. RCW 36.32.210 requires counties to "file with the auditor of the county a full and complete inventory of all capitalized assets."

In Snohomish County, unofficial copies of recorded documents are available for viewing online. *Id.* If copies are requested, the Auditor charges a research fee and copy fees pursuant to RCW 36.18.010. *Id.* Records responsive to request K008293 were not provided in native format in light of their availability online and their status as recorded documents. *Id.* 

On June 3, 2016, 38 days after Mr. Strahm's request K008293 was received, the County responded and provided him with the information necessary to complete his request. CP 298, 309. In response to item 1, the County referred him to the Council-approved budget and the monthly and quarterly budget versus actuals available on the County's website. *Id.* The County then provided a link to that website. *Id.* In response to item 2, the County informed him that all annual county property inventory acquisitions and dispositions are recorded with the County Auditor's Office, pursuant to RCW 36.32.210. CP 298-99, 309. The County then provided Mr. Strahm with the recording numbers of the inventory documents he was seeking and informed him he would need to request those records directly from the Auditor and pay the applicable fees under RCW 36.18.010. *Id.* Mr. Strahm did not object to the production of records responsive to his request in this manner. CP 299. Mr. Strahm's request was then closed. *Id.* 

On May 15, 2017, Mr. Strahm filed a complaint for violations of the PRA. CP 3. The County prevailed on summary judgment. CP 253-54. Mr.

Strahm appealed. In its opinion, the Court of Appeals concluded that the County's responses complied with the PRA and the Attorney General's Model Rules in that the County provided an internet link to requested records and referred Mr. Strahm to the County Auditor. The Court of Appeals opinion is unpublished.

### IV. REASONS FOR DENYING THE PETITION

A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Ruled the County Complied with the PRA by Providing an Internet Link to the Requested Records.

The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's decision that providing a link to records available online in a generally commercially available format complied with the PRA. The County reviewed the request and conducted its search for the specific records requested by Mr. Strahm. The County concluded that, because Mr. Strahm requested the "Council approved" budget in item 1 of his request, the record was available online in electronic format. The council-approved budget is a .pdf document that is made available online as a "commonly requested record."

The PRA permits an agency to provide a link to the agency's website where the specifically requested records are available. RCW 42.56.520. Both the legislature and the Attorney General's Model Rules encourage this

practice.<sup>2</sup> The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the County was not obligated to translate the records into an alternative electronic format. See WAC 44-14-05001 ("An agency should provide reasonably locatable electronic public records in either their original generally commercially available format (such as an Adobe Acrobat PDF® file) or, if the records are not in a generally commercially available format, the agency should provide them in a reasonably translatable electronic format if possible."). Mr. Strahm's arguments to the contrary are misplaced. The Court of Appeals' decision was in accordance with the law and correctly ruled that the County complied with the PRA and the Model Rules. Such a decision does not warrant this Court's review.

# B. The Court of Appeals Properly Ruled that the County Complied with the PRA by Directing Mr. Strahm to the County Auditor.

Item 2 of Mr. Strahm's request sought "[e]lectronic records of the County property inventory pursuant to SCC 4.46.120 and RCW 36.32.210, for the years 2013, 2014, 2015." RCW 36.32.210 requires counties to "file

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See legislative finding Laws of 2010, ch. 69 § 1: ("The internet provides for instant access to public records at a significantly reduced cost to the agency and the public. Agencies are encouraged to make commonly requested records available on agency web sites. When an agency has made records available on its web site, members of the public with computer access should be encouraged to preserve taxpayer resources by accessing those records online."), and WAC 44-14-03004 ("An agency could fulfill its obligation to provide "access" to a public record by providing a requestor with a link to an agency web site containing an electronic copy of that record. RCW 42.56.520. Agencies are encouraged to do so, and requestors are encouraged to access records posted online in order to preserve taxpayer resources.")

with the auditor of the county a full and complete inventory of all capitalized assets." The County complies with this statute and filed the inventory with the County Auditor.

Mr. Strahm's request invoked RCW 36.32.210 and specifically requested records that the County is required to file with the Auditor. To respond to this portion of Mr. Strahm's request, the County referred him to the Auditor's Office to acquire those recorded documents. The PRA does not supersede other statutory provisions governing fees for copying public records. RCW 42.56.130.

The Court of Appeals also correctly determined that the County was not obligated to provide him these records in a different format, which is consistent with other published decisions. *See, e.g., Benton County v. Zink*, 191 Wn. App. 269, 281, 361 P.3d 801 (2015). The Court of Appeals properly ruled that the County complied with the PRA by referring Mr. Strahm to the Auditor's Office to obtain recorded documents in accordance with the fee schedule in RCW 36.18.010. This case does not warrant this Court's review.

## C. Review is not Warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Finally, this case does not involve an issue of substantial public interest. The Court of Appeals decision in this case is unpublished and cannot be cited as binding precedent. GR 14.1(a). This Court recently

determined a case involved a matter of substantial public interest worthy of review when the published Court of Appeals decision "wholly reinvented the traditional duties of a Court of Appeals division," and "risk[ed] perpetuating incorrect decisions of law, insulating them from this court's review on the basis of divisional conflicts as contemplated by RAP 13.4(b)(2)." In re Personal Restraint of Arnold, 189 Wn.2d 1023, 408 P.3d 1091 (2017). This case does not implicate these important considerations. This Court should decline to accept review.

## V. CONCLUSION

For all of the reasons above, this Court should deny Mr. Strahm's petition for review.